UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
TAMPA DIVISION

Inre:
JON J. HAMMILL, Case No. 8:09-bk-2272-CPM
Debtor. Chapter 7

DONALD F. WALTON
United States Trustee for Region 21,
Plaintiff
V. Adv. Pro. No. 8:10- _ -ap-CPM
JON J. HAMMILL,
Defendant.
/

UNITED STATES TRUSTEE'S COMPLAINT
SEEKING REVOCATION OF THE DEBTOR’S DISCHARGE

Donald F. Walton, the United States Trustee for Region 21, through the undersigned counsel,
files this complaint seeking the revocation of discharge of Jon J. Hammill (the “Defendant™), and
alleges:

A. Jurisdiction and Venue

1. This complaint is filed pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 727 and Rule 7001(4), Federal
Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure.

2. This Court has jurisdiction to hear this case under 28 U.S.C. §§ 157 and 1334 and
11 U.S.C. 8727,

3. This is a core proceeding under 28 U.S.C. § 157(b)(2).

4. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1409.

5. The United States Trustee has standing to bring this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

88§ 307 and 727(c).



B. General Allegations

6. On February 10, 2009 (the “Petition Date”), the Defendant filed a voluntary
petition under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code.

7. The United States Trustee appointed Lauren P. Greene to serve as chapter 7
trustee.

8. On the Petition Date, Defendant completed his Schedules and Statement of
Financial Affairs, which were signed under penalties of perjury.

0. On March 17, 2009, the chapter 7 trustee conducted and concluded the meeting of
creditors.

10. The deadline for filing a complaint objecting to discharge pursuant to 11 U.S.C.
727 was May 18, 2009.

11. The discharge was entered on July 20, 2009 (“Discharge Date”). (Bankr. Dkt. 37).

12.  Subsequent to July 20, 2009, the United States Trustee learned of facts given rise
to this complaint.

13.  On April 27, 2010, the Court entered an order that granted the United States
Trustee’s motion authorizing an examination of the Defendant and production of documents
pursuant to Rule 2004, Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure (“Rule 2004 Order”) (Dkt. No.
50).

14.  OnJuly 9, 2010, the United States Trustee conducted a Rule 2004 examination of
the Defendant.

15.  The Defendant did not provide all the documents requested pursuant to the Rule

2004 Examination.



16.  Atthe Rule 2004 Examination, the Defendant refused to answer certain questions,
asserting his Fifth Amendment Privilege against self-incrimination.

Scheduled Assets, Income, Expenses and Debts

17. Defendant’s Schedule A lists three parcels of real property located in Pasco
County, Florida, with a stated aggregate current value of $415,000.

18. Defendant’s Schedule B lists personal property with a stated current value of
$20,465.

19.  On Schedules I and J respectively, the Defendant’s stated that he had total
monthly income of $1,950 per month from auto sales, and total monthly expenses of $3,481.

20. Defendant’s Amended Schedule I lists income of $4,333.33 per month from auto
sales.

Defendant’s Schedule D lists creditors holding secured claims in the amount of
$523,620.59, which consist of four mortgages on the Defendant’s real property listed on
Schedule A, and a purchase money security interest in a 1995 Century boat.

21. Defendant’s Schedule E shows one creditor, which was holding a disputed
support obligation in the amount of $33,044.89.

22. Defendant’s Schedule F shows unsecured nonpriority claims in the amount of
$60,964.

23. Defendant’s Schedule G shows a lease agreement with Southeast Toyota Finance
regarding a Toyota Tundra.

24. Defendant’s Schedule H shows no co-debtor obligation.



False Oaths and Omissions

25.  The Defendant is 100% shareholder of Jon J. Hammill, P.A.

26.  JonJ. Hammill, P.A. was created because the Defendant held a real estate
licenses.

217, In response to item 13 on Schedule B, the Defendant did not disclose his interest
in Jon J. Hammill, P.A.

28.  The Defendant falsely listed that Jon J. Hammill, P.A.’s business ended in 2006,
three years before the Petition Date in response to Statement 18 of the Statement of Financial
Affairs.

29.  Prior to and after the Petition Date, both Defendant and Jon J. Hammill, P.A. did
business with a company known as Boftly, LLC. (“Botfly”).

30. Botfly, together with the Defendant, and other persons were allegedly involved in
a Ponzi scheme where they solicited over $23 million from over 500 persons who were promised
a 10% per month return on their investments. See U.S. Trustee’s Exhibit 1 - State of Florida
Attorney General’s complaint.

31.  The Defendant’s precise interest, position, and role in Botfly is unknown.

32. The Defendant invoked is Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination
at the Rule 2004 examination when he was asked about his precise role in Botfly on the Petition
Date.

33.  On the Petition Date, Defendant and Jon J. Hammill, P.A. jointly held a
Wachovia account ending in account number 5195 (“Joint Wachovia Account”).

34, Funds were deposited from Botfly into the Joint Wachovia Account.



35. It appears that on the Petition Date, Botfly owed money to the Defendant and/or
Jon J. Hammill, P.A.

36.  The Defendant did not disclose any accounts receivable to him or his P.A. as of
the Petition Date in response to item 16 on Schedule B.

37.  Two days after the Petition Date, however, $21,850 was deposited into the Joint
Wachovia Account from Botfly.

38.  Within 25 days of the Petition Date, $37,583 was deposited into the Joint
Wachovia Account from Botfly.

39. Numerous deposits were made into the Wachovia Joint Account from Botfly.

40. The flow of cash went from Botfly to the Wachovia Joint Account, and then into
Defendant’s personal Bank of American Account, ending with account number 5458 .

41. For year 2007, Deposits into Defendant’s personal Bank of American Account,
ending with account number 5458 totaled over $192,000.

42. For year 2008, Deposits into Defendant’s personal Bank of American Account,
ending with account number 5458 totaled over $173,000.

43. For year 2009, Deposits into Defendant’s personal Bank of American Account,
ending with account number 5458 totaled over $431,000.

44, Between the Petition Date and the Date of Discharge, significant amount funds
were deposited into the Wachovia Joint Account, then to the Defendant’s Bank of America
account ending with account number 5458.

45.  Subsequent to the Date of Discharge, increased deposits were made into the



Wachovia Joint Account, then into the Defendant’s Bank of America account.

46. Funds were also wired to the Defendant’s Deutsche Bank account in London.

47.  The Defendant refused to disclose information about Deutsche Bank account at
the Rule 2004.

48. With certain questions regarding the Deutsche Bank account, the Defendant
invoked his Fifth Amendment Privilege against self-incrimination.

49.  The Petition Date balance in the Defendant’s Deutsche Bank account cannot be
determined because the Defendant did provide this bank accounts statements pursuant to the
Rule 2004 Order.

50.  The Petition Date balance in Debtor’s Bank of America account ending with
account number 5458 was understated in response to item 2 of Schedule B.

51. In response to Statement 1 of the Defendant’s Statement of Financial Affairs, the
Defendant listed income in the amount of $121,987, $50,691 and $2,818.19 for years 2007, 2008
and year-to-date 2009 respectively.

52.  Arreview of one of the Defendant’s bank account, Bank of American account
ending with number 5458, shows deposits of over $192,000 for year 2007 and over $173,000 for
year 2008.

53. In response to Statement 10 of the Statement of Financial Affairs, the Defendant
stated that he sold to a Roy Kirchner for $10,000 about one month before he filed the Chapter 7
case.

54. Defendant’s financial records show, however, that Defendant paid Mr. Kirchner

several thousand dollars which is believed to be in connection with the boat.



Count |
11 U.S.C. § 727(d)(1)
(Revocation of the Debtor’s Discharge)

55.  The Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1 through 54 inclusive, and incorporate them
by reference.

56.  This is an action objecting to the discharge of the Defendant pursuant to 11
U.S.C. 8§ 727(d)(1), Rules 4004(d) and 7001(4), Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure.

57.  The date for objecting the Debtor’s discharge expired on May 18, 2009.

58.  The Defendant obtained his discharge through fraud and the United States Trustee
did not know of such fraud until after such discharge was granted.

59.  The Defendant failed to disclose assets as described above in paragraphs 25
through 54.

60.  The Defendant made false oaths or accounts in connection with this case as
described more fully above in paragraphs 25 through 55.

61.  The Defendant has a duty to fully and accurately complete all documents filed in
the bankruptcy case, including the bankruptcy schedules and statement of financial affairs.

62.  The Defendant failed to provide the chapter 7 trustee with complete and accurate
information in his Schedules and Statement of Financial Affairs. By withholding critical
information, as described in the preceding paragraphs, the Defendant’s Schedules and Statement

of Financial Affairs were misleading and adversely impacted the Trustee’s ability to administer

the case.



WHEREFORE, the United States Trustee respectfully requests that the Court (I) enter a
judgment revoking the discharge pursuant to 11 U.S.C. 8 727(d)(1), and (ii) grant other such
relief that the Court deems appropriate.

Count 11
11 U.S.C. § 727(d)(2)
(Revocation of the Debtor’s Discharge)

63.  The Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1 through 54 inclusive, and incorporate them
by reference.

64.  This is an action objecting to the discharge of the Defendant pursuant to 11
U.S.C. § 727(d)(2), Rules 4004(d) and 7001(4), Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure.

65. However, the date for objecting the Debtor’s discharge expired on May 18, 2009.

66. Upon information and belief, the Defendant failed to report his entitlement to pre-
petition assets on his Schedules as described more fully above in paragraphs 25 through 55.

67.  The Defendant failed to deliver the chapter 7 trustee pre-petition assets to which
the bankruptcy estate is entitled, as more fully described in paragraphs 25 through 55.

68.  The Defendant made false oaths or accounts in connection with this case

69.  The Defendant has a duty to fully and accurately complete all documents filed in
the bankruptcy case, including the bankruptcy schedules and statement of financial affairs.

70.  The Defendant failed to provide the chapter 7 trustee with complete and accurate
information in his Schedules and Statement of Financial Affairs. By withholding critical
information, as described in the preceding paragraphs, the Defendant’s Schedules and Statement

of Financial Affairs were misleading and adversely impacted the Trustee’s ability to administer

the case.



WHEREFORE, the United States Trustee respectfully requests that the Court (I) enter a
judgment revoking the discharge pursuant to 11 U.S.C. 8 727(d)(2), and (ii) grant other such
relief that the Court deems appropriate.

Dated: July 19, 2010.

Respectfully submitted,
DONALD F. WALTON
United States Trustee for Region 21

By: /s/ Denise E. Barnett

Denise E. Barnett, Esq., Trial Attorney
Florida Bar Number 090610

501 East Polk Street, Suite 1200

Tampa, Florida 33602

(813) 228-2000; (813) 228-2303 facsimile
denise.barnett@usdoj.gov







IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY, FLORIDA

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY
GENERAL, DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL
AFFAIRS, STATE OF FLORIDA,

Plaintiff,
vs. CASE NO.
BOTFLY L.L.C., DAVID R. LEWALSK],
and JON J. HAMMILL, JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
Defendants.
/
COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, Office of the Attorney General, Department of Legal Affairs, State of Florida
(“OAG”), by and through its undersigned attorneys, hereby sues Botfly L.L.C., David R.

Lewalski, and Jon J. Hammill, and alleges as follows:

Jurisdiction and Venue

1. This is an action on behalf of consumers for temporary and permanent injunctive
relief, appointment of a receiver, civil penalties, equitable relief, restitution, divestment of assets,
and attorneys’ fees and costs for defendants’ violations of the Florida Securities and Investor
Protection Act, Fla. Stat. §§ 517.011 et seq. and the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade
Practices Act, Fla. Stat. §§ 501.201 et seq.

2. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to the provisions of said statutes.

3. The statutory violations alleged herein occurred in or affected more than one



judicial circuit in the State of Florida.

4. Venue is proper in the Sixth Judicial Circuit for Pasco County, because at least
one of the Defendants is located in Pasco County, Florida, and the causes of action arose at least
in part in Pasco County, Florida, because the Defendants transacted business in Pasco County,
Florida, and much of the conduct élleged herein occurred in Pasco County, Florida.

5. The OAG has the authority to enforce the Florida Securities and Investor
Protection Act.

6. The OAG is the enforcing authority of the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade
Practices Act, Chapter 501, Part II, Florida Statutes.

7. The OAG has conducted an investigation and the head of the enforcing authority,
Attorney General Bill McCollum, has determined that an enforcement action serves the public
interest pursuant to Chapter 501, Part II, Florida Statutes.

8. Defendants, at all times material hereto, have engaged in “trade or commerce” by
advertising, soliciting, offering, or distributing a good or service, within the definition of
§ 501.203(8), Florida Statutes.

9. Defendants, at all times material hereto, provided goods or services as defined
within § 501.203(8), Florida Statutes.

10. Defendants, at all times material hereto, solicited consumers within the definitions

of § 501.203(7), Florida Statutes.

The Defendants

11.  Defendant Botfly L.L.C. (“Botfly”) is a Florida corporation with its principal

place of business in Pasco County, Florida. Botfly has solicited payments from several investors

in Pasco County, Florida.



12.  Defendant David R. Lewalski (“Lewalski”) is a resident of Alachua County,

Florida. Lewalski is the Manager of Botfly.

13.  Defendant Jon J. Hammill (“Hammill”) is a resident of Pinellas County, Florida.

Hammill is a representative and agent of Botfly.
The Scheme

14.  This case involves a Ponzi scheme beginning at least as early as January, 2008,
and continuing through the present date soliciting money from consumers in Florida and the
United States totaling more than $23 million. On information and belief, more than 500 persons
and entities have invested in Botfly, and of these investors, more than 200 are Florida residents.

15.  According to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, a Ponzi scheme is
“an investment fraud that involves the payment of purported returns to existing investors from
funds contributed by new investors. Ponzi scheme organizers often solicit new investors by
promising to invest funds in opportunities claimed to generate high returns with little or no risk.
In many Ponzi schemes, the fraudsters focus on attracting new money to make promised
payments to earlier-stage investors and to use for personal expenses, instead of engaging in any

»l

legitimate investment activity.

16.  Defendants Lewalski and Hammill devised and implemented the Ponzi scheme
through their company Botfly.

17.  Defendants Lewalski and Hammill recruited persons to invest in Botfly with
promises of lavish returns on their investments. Lewalski and Hammill claimed that they earned

19% per month interest on their money by buying and selling currency. Lewalski and Hammill

U hitp//www.sec.gov/answers/ponzi.html.




promised to pay investors a 10% per month return on their investments if they would invest in

Botfly.

18.  Defendants signed and provided to at least one investor a “Promissory Note” at
the time the investor invested money in Botfly.

19.  Defendant Botfly’s Promissory Note contains representations, which Defendants
knew were false at the time that they made the representations.

20. A true and accurate copy of the Promissory Note is attached hereto as Exhibit
“p

21.  On information and belief, more than 500 investors in Botfly received from
Defendants Promissory Notes similar to the Promissory Note attached as Exhibit A.

22.  Thereafter, Defendants would provide an investor with a password to a Botfly
website location where monthly statements were provided to an investor indicating a 10% per
month return on investment for the investor.

23.  In the Promissory Note, Defendants claimed that the principal amount of the
investment was to be held for “investment and margin purposes only.” However, this statement
was false at the time it was made because Defendants knowingly used investor funds for their
own personal use, including the purchases of luxury automobiles such as a Porsche and a Land
Rover.

24.  Furthermore, Defendants promised the investor that Defendants would pay 10%
interest per month to investors on the principal amount of their investments. However, this
statement was false and Defendants knew this statement was false at the time it was made.

25.  Botfly’s bank account records demonstrate that Defendants were paying and

transferring investor funds into the personal accounts of Defendants Lewalski and Hammill. For



example, Hammill and his company, Jon J. Hammill, P.A., were paid more than $1.1 million in
investor funds. Further, Lewalski made at least $345,000 in cash withdrawals of investor funds.
These funds paid to Hammill and Lewalski were never repaid to investors.

26. In addiﬁon, Botfly’s bank account records indicate that investor funds were used
for personal expenses such as payments totaling more than $616,000 for luxury automobiles
including at least one Porsche and one Land Rover, more than $155,000 for expénses at lavish
resort hotels, and more than $475,000 for private jet charter services. Also, Lewalski spent at
least $244,000 of investor funds at lavish retailers such as Gucci, Cartiers,. and Hermes of Paris.

27.  Botfly’s bank account records also indicate that Botfly was using funds received
from new investors to pay returns to existing investors, which is a common characteristic of a
Ponzi scheme. Defendants deliberately concealed this fact from its investors.

28.  Defendants failed to invest most of the money received from investors. The first
potential investment of approximately $1 million occurred in September, 2009, more than 20
months after Defendants began receiving funds from investors. However, almost $200,000 of
this investment was eventually paid back into Lewalski’s personal bank account and was not
paid to investors.

29.  Defendants’ Ponzi scheme is destined to collapse as all Ponzi schemes eventually
will collapse. Upon collapse, investors are typically left with nothing. However, in this case, it
is believed that Defendants’ Ponzi scheme is still running, and the instant action will provide
relief to investors before the eventual collapse of Defendants’ Ponzi scheme.

30. Defendants have willfully and purposefully concealed their fraudulent scheme

and actions so that the causes of action could not have been discovered until now.



31.  Any conditions precedent to the maintenance of this action have occurred or have

been waived.

Count I

Violation of the Florida Securities and Investor Protection Act

32. This is an action against Defendants Botfly L.L.C., David R. Lewalski, and Jon J.
Hammill, in excess of $15,000, exclusive of attorneys’ fees and costs, pursuant to Fla. Stat.
§§517.191 and 517.301, for violation of the Florida Securities and Investor Protection Act.

33.  Plaintiff OAG adopts, realleges, and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1
through 31 above as if fully set forth herein.

34. Defendants offered and sold securities and/or investments to persons in Florida
and throughout the United States.

35.  Investors tendered money to Defendant Botfly at the request and solicitation of
Defendants Lewalski and Hammill based upon promises of 10% monthly interest returns, which
funds Defendants were obligated to invest. In return for an investment, the investor received a
Promissory Note from Defendants.

36.  The Promissory Note is a security pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 517.021(21)(a), ®, (@,
because it is a note, ah evidence of indebtedness, and/or an investment contract.

37.  Instead of investing the funds received from investors as promised, Defendants
Botfly, Lewalski, and Hammill diverted the funds to personal accounts of Lewalski and
Hammill, paid investor funds to Lewalski and Hammill, and otherwise spent the investor funds
on personal expenditures.

38. Plaintiff is authorized to bring this action pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 517.191(5)

(2009), because it has reason to believe that Defendants have engaged or are engaged in an “act
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or practice constituting a violation of s. 517.275, s. 517.301, s. 517.311, or s. 517.312, or any

rule or order issued under such sections.”

39. Section 517.301(1)(a), Florida Statutes, declares that it is unlawful for any person
to “employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud” in connection with the offer or sale “of
any investment or security.”

40. Defendants Botfly, Lewalski, and Hammill have violated Section 517.301(1) by
employing a device, scheme, or artifice to defraud persons investing money in Botfly through
promising falsely that investors would receive a 10% per month return on their investments.
Defendants have relied upon funds received from new investors to pay any returns that have
been paid to existing investors and have not actually invested money received from investors.
These actions constitute a scheme to defraud.

41.  Further, Section 517.301(1)(c), Florida Statutes, declares that it is unlawful for a
person to “knowingly and willfully falsify, conceal, or cover up, by any trick, scheme, or device,
a material fact, make any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation, or make or
use any false writing or document, knowing the same to contain any false, fictitious, or
fraudulent statement or entry.”

42.  Defendants Botfly, Lewalski, and Hammill violated Section 517.301(1)(c) by
falsely stating to investors that Defendants would use money invested in Botfly for “investment
or margin purposes only.” Lewalski and Hammill have absconded with investor funds by
placing investor funds in personal accounts controlled by Lewalski or Hammill and paying
themselves with investor funds. In addition, Lewalski and Hammill have used investor funds to
make extravagant purchases of personal items such as sports cars, luxury resort hotel stays,

private jet charter services, and items from lavish retailers. Further, investor funds were not held



in a margin account. Accordingly, Defendants Botfly, Lewalski, and Hammill have knowingly
and willfully falsified, concealed, or covered up, by a trick, scheme, or device, the material fact
that Defendants were not investing funds received from investors as promised in violation of
Section 517.301(1)(c).

43.  Moreover, Defendants Botfly, Lewalski, Hammill violated Section 517.301(1)(c)
by making false, fictitious, or fraudulent statements or representations, or making or using false
writings or documents, knowing the same to contain any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement
or entry. Defendants Botfly, Lewalski, and Hammill falsely promised investors that the investors
would receive a return on their investment of 10% per month. In reality, Defendants have relied
upon the funds received from new investors in order to pay any returns provided to existing
investors and have not actually invested the money received from investors. Defendants have
concealed from investors that Botfly is actually a Ponzi scheme.

44.  Unless Defendants are temporarily and permanently enjoined from engaging
further in the acts and practices alleged herein, the continued activities of Defendants will result
in irreparable injury to the public for which there is no adequate remedy at law. The public
interest also favors the entry of injunctive relief to protect the public and investors from the
Defendants’ fraudulent scheme.

45.  Plaintiff requests appointment of a receiver over the assets of Defendants and over
the business of Botfly pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 5717.191(2).

46.  Plaintiff requests the entry of an order of restitution for Defendants to pay
restitution to investors pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 517.191(5).

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Office of the Attorney General, Department of Legal Affairs,

State of Florida, prays this Court enter a judgment in its favor and against defendants Botfly



L.L.C., David R. Lewalski, and Jon J. Hammill, entering temporary and permanent injunctions
enjoining current and future violations of Chapter 517, freezing Defendants’ bank accounts,
appointing a receiver, entering other injunctive relief, ordering restitution, assessing civil
penalties against Defendants, dissolving Botfly, L.L.C,, awarding attorneys’ fees and costs to
Plaintiff, and for such other and further relief that this Court deems just and proper.

Count II

Violation of the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act

47.  This is an action against Defendants Botfly L.L.C., David R. Lewalski, and Jon J.
Hammill, in excess of $15,000, exclusive of attorneys’ fees and costs, for violation of the Florida
Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act.

48.  Plaintiff OAG adopts, realleges, and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1
through 31 above as if fully set forth herein.

49.  Section 501.204(1), Florida Statutes, declares that unfair or deceptive acts or
practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce are unlawful.

50.  Defendant Botfly has committed the following acts or practices that are unfair,
deceptive, or unconscionable in willful violation of Chapter 501, Part II, Florida Statutes:

(a) Soliciting investors to invest in Botfly by misrepresenting that investors
would receive 10% interest per month on their investments;

(b) Falsely promising to use funds invested in Botfly for investment or margin
purposes only;

©) Using investor funds for purposes other than investment or margin

purposes as was represented in the promissory notes provided to investors including using



investor funds to purchase items such as luxury automobiles, resort hotel stays, private jet charter

services, and lavish retailer purchases;

(d) Diverting investor funds from Botfly accounts into personal accounts

controlled by Lewalski or Hammill or by paying investor funds to Lewalski or Hammill;

(e) Providing false monthly statements to investors indicating that investors
were receiving interest on their investments at 10% per month when investors’ funds were not
actually accruing interest at that rate and the majority of investor funds were not even invested;

) Committing theft of investor funds pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 812.014(1) by
knowingly obtaining money from investors with the intent to either temporarily or permanently
deprive the persons of the money and appropriate the money to his own use or the use of others

- not entitled to the use of the money;

(2) Committing cheating pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 817.29, Florida Statutes, by
intentionally obtaining both the possession and ownership of investors’ money by means of
misrepresentations with the intent to defraud the investors; and

(h) Conspiring with one or more defendants to engage in one or more of the

above actions.

51.  Defendant David R. Lewalski has committed the following acts or practices that

are unfair, deceptive, or unconscionable in willful violation of Chapter 501, Part II, Florida

Statutes:

(a) Soliciting investors to invest in Botfly by misrepresenting that investors

would receive 10% interest per month on their investments;

(b) Falsely promising to use funds invested in Botfly for investment or margin
purposes only;
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(c) Using investor funds for purposes other than investment or margin
purposes as was represented in the promissory notes provided to investors including using

investor funds to purchase items such as luxury automobiles, resort hotel stays, private jet charter

services, and lavish retailer purchases;

(d) Diverting investor funds from Botfly accounts into personal accounts
controlled by Lewalski or Hammill or by paying investor funds to Lewalski or Hammill;

(e) Providing false monthly statements to investors indicating that investors
were receiving interest on their investments at 10% per month when investors’ funds were not
actually accruing interest at that rate and the majority of investor funds were not even invested;

® Committing theft of investor funds pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 812.014(1) by
knowingly obtaining money from investors with the intent to either temporarily or permanently
déprive the persons of the money and appropriate the money to his own use or the use of others
not entitled to the use of the money;

(2) Committing cheating pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 817.29, Florida Statutes, by
intentionally obtaining both the possession and ownership of investors’ money by means of
misrepresentations with the intent to defraud the investors; and

(h) Conspiring with one or more defendants to engage in one or more of the
above actions.

52.  Defendant Jon J. Hammill has committed the foliowing acts or practices that are
unfair, deceptive, or unconscionable in willful violation of Chapter 501, Part II, Florida Statutes:

(a) Soliciting investors to invest in Botfly by misrepresenting that investors

would receive 10% interest per month on their investments;
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(b)  Falsely promising to use funds invested in Botfly for investment or margin
purposes only;

(c) Using investor funds for purposes other than investment or margin
purposes as was represented in the promissory notes provided to investors including using
investor funds to purchase items such as luxury automobiles, resort hotel stays, private jet charter
services, and lavish retailer purchases;

(d) Diverting investor funds from Botfly accounts into personal accounts
controlled by Hammill or Lewalski or by paying investor funds to Lewalski or Hammill;

(e) Providing false monthly statements to investors indicating that investors
were receiving interest on their investments at 10% per month when investors’ funds were not
actually accruing interest at that rate and the majority of investor funds were not even invested;

) Committing theft of investor funds pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 812.014(1) by
knowingly obtaining money from persons with the intent to either temporarily or permanently
deprive the persons of the money and appropriate the money to his own use or the use of others
not entitled to the use of the money;

(g) Committing cheating pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 817.29, Florida Statﬁtes, by
intentionally obtaining both the possession and ownership of investors’ money by means of
misrepresentations with the intent to defraud the investors; and

(h) Conspiring with one or more Defendants to engage in one or more of the
above actions.

53.  The acts and practices of defendants have caused injury, damages, and prejudice

to consumers and the public and constitute unconscionable acts or practices or unfair or

12



deceptive acts and trade practices within the intent and meaning of Section 501, Part II, Florida
Statutes.

54.  Defendant Lewalski is a direct participant in the activities of Defendant Botfly.

55.  Defendant Hammill is a direct participant in the activities of Defendant Botfly.

56.  Unless Defendants are temporarily and permanently enjoined from engaging
further in the acts and practices alleged herein, the continued activities of Defendants will result
in irreparable injury to the public for which there is no adequate remedy at law. The public
interest also favors the entry of injunctive relief to protect the public and investors from the

Defendants’ fraudulent scheme.

57.  Plaintiff requests appointment of a receiver over the assets of Defendants and over
the business of Botfly pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 501.207(3).

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Office of the Attorney General, Department of Legal Affairs,
State of Florida, prays this Court enter a judgment in its favor and against defendants Botfly
L.L.C., David R. Lewalski, and Jon J. Hammill, entering temporary and permanent injunctions
enjoining current and future violations of Chapter 501, freezing Defendants’ bank accounts,
appointing a receiver, entering other injunctive relief, assessing civil penalties against
Defendants, ordering disgorgement of the proceeds of the fraud, ordering divestment or
forfeiture of assets, ordering restitution, aweirding damages, dissolving Botfly, L.L.C., awarding

attorneys’ fees and costs to Plaintiff, and for such other and further relief that this Court deems

just and proper.
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Jurv Trial Demand

 Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable.

BILL McCOLLUM
Attorney General

R. Scott’Palmer

Special Counsel

Florida Bar No. 220353
Gregory S. Slemp

Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 478865

Office of the Attorney General
PL-01; The Capitol
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050
Telephone: (850) 414-3300
Facsimile: (850) 488-9134
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